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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE: TFT-LCD (FLAT PANEL) ANTITRUST No. M 07-1827 SI
LITIGATION MDL No. 1827
/

This Order Relates To Individual Case No. 13- No. C 13-6001 Sl
cv-6001 SlI:

ORDER RE MOTION TO DISMISS
HOME DEPOT U.S.A., INC,,

Plaintiff,
V.

AU OPTRONICS CORPORATION and AU
OPTRONICS CORPORATION AMERICA,

Defendants.

Currently before the Court is defendants’ motiomismiss plaintiff's complaint. Pursuant
Civil Local Rule 7-1(b), the Court determines ttias matter is appropriate for resolution without @

argument and VACATES the hearing scheduleddoeJs, 2014. For the reasons set forth below

28

to
ral

the

Court GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART thmotion to dismiss. Any amended complafint

must be filechot later than July 7, 2014.

BACKGROUND
The following facts are drawn from the complainti@re assumed to be true for purposes of

motion. Plaintiff Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. is a Delawaorporation with its principal place of busing
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in Atlanta, Georgia. Compl. § 6. Defendant AU@pics Corporation is a Taiwan-based business
manufactured and sold LCD panels that werermaxated in LCD products sold throughout the Uni
States. Id. § 7. Defendant AU Optronics Corporation émnca, a wholly owned subsidiary of A
Optronics Corporation, has its porate headquarters in Houston, Texas, and maintains facilities i

Cupertino and San Diego, Californitd. 8.

thai
ted
U

N bo

On December 31, 2013, plaintiff filed this action, seeking damages and injunctive reli¢f, a

alleging that “Defendants and their co-conspiratcedalieved to have conspired from at least Jan

Liary

1, 1996 until approximately December 11, 2006 . . . fepilirpose and to the effect of fixing, raising,

stabilizing, and maintaining prices for LCD panel&d: 2. The complaint contains two claims:
a claim for violation of the Sherman Act; and (Zlam for violation of Céfornia’s Cartwright Act.

Defendants now move to dismiss the complaint.

LEGAL STANDARD

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismis® thaintiff must allegéenough facts to state

claim to relief that is plausible on its facdB&l| Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). This

“facial plausibility” standard requires the plaintiti allege facts thatdal up to “more than a she
possibility that a Defendant has acted unlawfullshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Whi

courts do not require “heighteneatt pleading of specifics,” a pldifi must allege facts sufficient t

1)

a

br
le

D

“raise a right to relief above the speculative levaWwombly, 550 U.S. at 544, 555. “A pleading that

offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause of action
do.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotingwvombly, 550 U.S. at 555). “Nor does a complaint suffice

tenders ‘naked assertion[s] devoidffrther factual enhancement.ld. (quotingTwombly, 550 U.S.

Vil 1

at 557). “While legal conclusions can provide tteanework of a complaint, they must be suppoited

by factual allegations.’ld.

In reviewing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a districtuct must accept as true all facts alleged in
complaint, and draw all reasonable refeces in favor of the plaintifSeeal-Kidd v. Ashcroft, 580 F.3d
949, 956 (9th Cir. 2009). However, afict court is not required to accept as true “allegations thg

merely conclusory, unwarranted deductiohfact, or unreasonable inferencebrte Gilead Scis. Sec.

2

the
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Litig., 536 F.3d 1049, 1055 (9th Cir. 2008). If the Couwstdsses a complaint, it must decide whether
to grant leave to amend. The Ninth Circuit has “regafigitheld that a district court should grant legve

to amend even if no request to amend the pleading was made, unless it determines that thg ple
could not possibly be cured by the allegation of other fatigpez v. Smith, 203 F.3d 1122, 1130 (9th

Cir. 2000) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

DISCUSSION
Defendants now move to dismiss the complaint, arguing that: (1) plaintiff lacks standing tp as:

a Sherman Act claim; (2) plaintiff is not entdléo injunctive relief under the Clayton Act; and (3)
plaintiff's California claims are barred by the statute of limitattonghe Court will address eagh

argument in turn.

1. Plaintiff's Sherman Act Claim.

Defendants argue that plaintiff lacks standing to pursue its Sherman Act claim because
complaint alleges that plaintiff was only an iredit purchaser. In its opgbten, plaintiff asserts that
it “does not seek damages under the Shermari AMDL Master Dkt. No. 9000 at 4 n.2. Insteaf,
plaintiff seeks an injunction underiClayton Act due to defendantfieged violations of the Shermgn
Act.

The Court agrees that plaintifficks standing to seek damagesvolation of the Sherman Ac.
Therefore, to the extent the complaint appease&k damages for violation of the Sherman Act,|the

Court GRANTS the motion to dismiss, with prejudice.

2. Plaintiff's Claim for Injunctive Relief Under the Clayton Act.
Defendants argue that plaintiff's claim faqwetable relief under the Clayton Act fails becalise

it has failed to demonstrate a threat of likely future violation of the antitrust laws.

! Both parties filed requests for judicial noti@sking that the Court take judicial notice |of
various filings in this multi-district litigationSee MDL Master Dkt. Nos8961, 9001. The Court fings
that it is appropriate to take judicial notice of these documents and therefore GRANTS both |part
requests for judicial notice.
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Section 16 of the Clayton Act@vides that private parties may seek injunctive relief “ags
threatened loss or damage by a violation of the antitrust laws . . . under the same condit
principles . . . [usually employed by] courts of equity.” 15 U.S.C. § 26.

The Court finds that plaintiff has met its bunds the pleading stage of alleging the possib

linst

ons

lity

of a continuing anticompetitive conspiracy. Plairdlfeges that, beginning “at least as early as January

1, 1996, and continuing thereafter up to and including at least December 31, 2006, Defendants

co-conspirators agreed, combined, and conspiredst®, raaintain, and stabilize at artificial levels {1

and

he

prices at which LCD Panels were sold.” CompR8. Plaintiff further alleges that this particujar

industry “has high barriers entry for new competitors.Id. § 23. At this stage of the proceedings
Court cannot say that there is set of facts under which plaintiff could succeed in its claim
injunctive relief.

Accordingly, the Court DENIES defendants’ naotito dismiss plaintiff's claim for injunctiv

relief under the Clayton Act.

3. Plaintiff's Claim Under California’s Cartwright Act.

Defendants contend that plaintiff's claim untlee Cartwright Act must be dismissed beca
it is barred by the statute of limitations. Plaintiff responds that several tolling events apply
Cartwright Claim, rendering it timely pursuant&merican Pipe & Construction Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S.

538 (1974). Specifically, platiff claims tolling based upon: (1) the doctrine of fraudulent conceal

until December 11, 2006; (2) “certain indirect pur@radass action complaints” filed in 2007 Id

extending until Home Depot opted out on April 10, 2012; and (3) a private tolling agreement

the parties effective on March 18, 2013 and extandntil at least October 14, 2013. Compl. 71 72

the

for

1%

Lise

to

nen

twie

-78.

Plaintiff also alleges that the statute of limitations was tolled under the doctrine of equitablé tiollin

Id. § 73.
As a preliminary matter, defendants argue thatcthmplaint fails to plead the basis for tolli

with specificity, as the Court requireSee MDL Master Dkt. No. 4867 at 2-3 (requiring plaintiffs

2 Because the Court finds that plaintiff is entitled to tolling ureerican Pipe, it does not
reach plaintiff's argument that it is also entitled to equitable tolling.

4
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the

MDL to “specifically identify every basis themtend to rely on to establish tolling of the

statutes of limitations, whether they are clagsmadawsuits, enforcement actions brought by s

[ate

Attorney Generals, or other matters”). The Gagrees that the complaint, as drafted, doeg not

specifically identify the bases upon which plaintiff rests its tolling argun@eatCompl. § 76 (claiming

tolling based on “certain indirect purchaser claston complaints against Defendants and t

heir

co-conspirators that included Home Depot in rthedass definitions and asserted claims agdinst

Defendants and their co-conspirators for their participation in the illegal LCD price-fixing conspifacy

Therefore, the Court GRANTS the motion to dismiss plaintiff's Cartwright Act claim, with lea|

amend.

e t

However, in the interests of judicial economy @ourt will address here the substantive bases

of plaintiff's tolling argument because, in its oppositiorthis motion, plaintiff sets forth the particul

details of the class complaintswich its complaint alludessee MDL Master Dkt. No. 9000 at 6 n.§.

Plaintiff's Cartwright Act claim is subjec¢t a four-year statute of limitationSee Cal. Bus. &

Prof. Code 88 16750.1, 17200. Plaintiff claiméing until December 11, 2006 based on the doct

of fraudulent concealment, a theory the Court hpeatedly endorsed in this MDL. Plaintiff claims

that the statute then ran for nine days, until December 20, 2006, whEeréhesik and DiMatteo
complaints were filed. The Court has previousiynd that these two comjités tolled the statute g

limitations from December 20, 2006, until at least February 2, 288/MDL Master Dkt. No. 8949

ar

fine

—

at 6. The Court has also previously ruled that plastiff argues — indirect purchaser plaintiffs may

rely on theHee andSelfridge complaints to toll the statute lohitations from February 2, 2007 through

November 5, 2007, and that the IPP-CAC tolled theaif limitations for indirect purchaser resell¢rs

from November 5, 2007 through December 5, 2008. at 5.
On December 5, 2008, the IPP class filed it®sdconsolidated amended complaint. M

Master Dkt. No. 746. At that time, the state lawssldefinitions were altered; in relevant part,

% Defendants concede, for purposes of this omptihat the statute of limitations was tolled

DL

the

up

until December 5, 2008, aside from the ningsdaetween December 11, 2006 and December 20, 200¢

MDL Master Dkt. No. 9026 at 6-7.
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California class was described as “[a]ll natural pessand entities residing in California who indireqt

y

purchased in California for their own use and not for resale LCD panels manufactured and/o1 sol

one or more of the defendarduring the Class Periodld. § 231(c). Defendants argue that this class

definition excludes plaintiff, a Delaware corporatiathits principal place of business in Georgia. The

Court disagrees.

Citizenship is not synonymous with residency, a distinction that may be important in sor

circumstanceslJeffcott v. Donovan, 135 F.2d 213, 214 (9th Cir. 1943). “It might well be that a resi

of any one state in point of fact maydeitizen of that or any other statdd. Residence is defined

as “[t}he place where a corporation or other entseptioes business or is registered to do busin

Hent

£SS.

Black’'s Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009f. Smith v. Smith, 45 Cal. 2d 235, 239 (1955) (noting that

“domicile” connotes the place with which the party has the most settled connection, while “residen

connotes any place where the party has settled witle @rmanency; that is, for “more than a mere

temporary sojourn”). For tax purposes, a corporatihat conducts business in California or rece

California source income is taxed as a California resideor poration, State of Cal. Franchise Tax

Bd., https://www.ftb.ca.gov/businesses/bus_structures/cCorp.shtml (last visited June 3, 2014).

The Court finds that plaintiff ia resident of California for pposes of the modified Californi

class definition. Although plaintiff is a Delawarerporation with its principal place of businessg

Georgia, it alleges that it maintains and opexateer 230 stores and other facilities in Californ

VeS

[a

n

a.

Compl. § 6. Itis undisputed thakaintiff “does business” in California, thus rendering it a resigent

under the commonly understood legal definitidgee Black’s Law Dictionary (9th ed. 2009). The

Court is satisfied that plaintiff has establishgat@sence in California that qualifies it as a California

resident for purposes of this class definition. Thus, the statute of limitations was tolled by
class’s second consolidated amended complaint from December 5, 2008 until April 29, 2011

On April 29, 2011, the IPP class filed its thilmhsolidated amended complaint, again alte
the class definition.See MDL Master Dkt. No. 2694. In this iteration, the California class

described as “[a]ll persons and entities in @atifa who, from January 1, 1999 to December 31, 2

he |

ing
vas

DOG,

as residents of California, purchased LCD paneaisriporated in televisions, monitors, and/or laptop

computers in California indirectly from ore more of the named Defendants . . 1d” | 251(b). For

6
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the reasons described above, the Court finds tietd#finition also encompassed plaintiff and
statute of limitations was tolled by this comptainrOn April 10, 2012, plaintiff filed a notice ¢
exclusion from the IPP class, and the statute afdimons again began to run. Compl. § 77. On M4
18, 2013, the parties entered into a tolling agreemantémained in effect until at least October
2013.1d. 1 78. On December 31, 2013, plaintiff filed its complaint.

The Court finds that, between December 11, 2006 and December 31, 2013, the st
limitations ran: (1) for 9 days from Decennldd,, 2006 until December 20, 2006; (2) for 331 days f
April 10, 2012 until March 18, 2013; and (3) for @8ys from October 14, 2013 until December
2013. Thus, the statute ran for a total of 418 days, well under the four-year limit.

Accordingly, the Court finds that plaintiff's Cantight Act claim, if properly pled, will not bg

barred by the statute of limitations.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons and for good catis&n, the Court hereby GRANTS IN PART AN
DENIES IN PART defendants’ motion to dissei Any amended congint must be filechot later

than_July 7, 2014 This Order resolves Master Docket No. 8960.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: June 4, 2014 %m W

SUSAN ILLSTON
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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